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Request for All Future Notices to be 
Properly Served 

91 Post-Trial Brief Regarding the Parties’ 
Equitable Claims and for Entry of 
Judgment 

11/16/18 23 5556–5693 

77 Proposed Jury Instructions Not Used 
at Trial 

09/05/18 19 4517–4520 

78 Proposed Verdict Form Not Used at 
Trial 

09/05/18 19 4521–4525 

73 Recorder’s Partial Transcript of Jury 
Trial: Closing Arguments 

09/04/18 18 4368–4467 

72 Recorder’s Partial Transcript: Jury 
Instructions 

09/04/18 18 4342–4367 

13 Recorder’s Transcript of All Pending 
Motions 

06/25/13 2 357–385 

62 Recorder’s Transcript of Hearing on 
Motions in Limine and Motions for 
Summary Judgment 

08/09/18 10 
11 

2417–2500 
2501–2538 

16 Recorder’s Transcript of Motions 
Hearing 

10/08/13 2 433–475 

112 Recorder’s Transcript of Pending 
Motions 

04/11/19 27 6554–6584 

39 Recorder’s Transcript of Proceeding: 
All Pending Motions 

08/03/16 6 1411–1441 

41 Recorder’s Transcript of Proceeding: 
Status Check 

09/28/16 6 1455–1464 

80 Recorder’s Transcript of Proceedings, 
Motion for Judgment as a Matter of 
Law Regarding Breach of Contract 
and Mistake Claims, The Estate’s 
Motion for Judgment as a Matter of 
Law Regarding Construction of Will 

10/04/18 19 4533–4554 

67 Recorder’s Transcript of Proceedings, 
Pretrial Conference – Day 2, All 
Pending Motions 

08/16/18 12 2793–2868 

65 Recorder’s Transcript of Proceedings, 
Pretrial Conference, All Pending 
Motions 

08/15/18 11 
12 

2647–2750 
2751–2764 
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40 Recorder’s Transcript of Proceedings: 
Calendar Call 

08/18/16 6 1442–1454 

56 Reply in Support of Motion for 
Summary Judgment Regarding 
Breach of Contract 

08/02/18 9 2210–2245 

15 Reply in Support of Motion to Dismiss 
Executor’s Petition for Declaratory 
Relief 

10/02/13 2 399–432 

97 Reply in Support of Motion to Retax 
Costs Pursuant to NRS 18.110(4) and 
to Defer Award of Costs Until All 
Claims are Fully Adjudicated 

01/04/19 24 5924–5941 

35 Reporter’s Transcript of Proceedings 10/08/14 6 1334–1376 
98 Reporter’s Transcription of 

Proceedings 
01/10/19 24 5942–5993 

114 Stipulation and Order Regarding Trial 
Transcripts 

08/05/19 27 6596–6597 

31 Supplement to Opposition to Motion 
for Partial Summary Judgment 

07/02/14 6 1274–1280 

61 Supplement to Opposition to Motion 
for Summary Judgment Regarding 
Breach of Contract and Countermotion 
for Advisory Jury 

08/08/18 10 2387–2416 

28 Supplement to Petition for Declaratory 
Relief to Include Remedies of Specific 
Performance and Mandatory 
Injunction 

05/28/17 5 1159–1165 

64 Supplement to the Estate’s Motion for 
Reconsideration of: The Court’s Order 
Granting Summary Judgment on the 
Estate’s Claim for Breach of Oral 
Contract 

08/14/18 11 2624–2646 

60 Supplement to the Estate’s Opposition 
to Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment Regarding Fraud 

08/08/18 10 2353–2386 

105 The Adelson Campus’ Motion to Re-
Tax and Settle Costs 

03/06/19 26 6479–6489 



xix 

 

53 The Adelson Campus’ Opposition to 
the Estate’s Countermotion for 
Advisory Jury 

07/23/18 9 2156–2161 

66 The Adelson Campus’ Opposition to 
the Estate’s Motion for 
Reconsideration of the Court’s Order 
Granting Summary Judgment on the 
Estate’s Claim for Breach of Contract 
and Countermotion to Strike the 
8/14/18 Declaration of Jonathan 
Schwartz and All Attached Exhibits in 
Support  

08/16/18 12 2765–2792 

93 The Adelson Campus’ Opposition to 
the Estate’s Motion to Retax Costs 
Pursuant to NRS 18.110(4) and to 
Defer Award of Costs Until All Claims 
are Fully Adjudicated 

11/21/18 24 5789–5803 

59 The Adelson Campus’ Pre-Trial 
Memorandum 

08/07/18 10 2275–2352 

54 The Adelson Campus’ Reply in 
Support of Motion for Partial 
Summary Judgment Regarding Fraud 

08/02/18 9 2162–2177 

55 The Adelson Campus’ Reply in 
Support of Motion for Partial 
Summary Judgment Regarding 
Statute of Limitations 

08/02/18 9 2178–2209 

111 The Adelson Campus’ Reply in 
Support of Motion to Re-Tax and 
Settle Costs 

04/04/19 27 6547–6553 

92 The Dr. Miriam and Sheldon G. 
Adelson Educational Institute’s 
Opposition to the Estate’s Motion for 
Post-Trial Relief from Judgment on 
Jury Verdict Entered October 4, 2018 

11/21/18 23 
24 

5694–5750 
5751–5788 

95 The Dr. Miriam and Sheldon G. 
Adelson Educational Institute’s 
Opposition to the Estate’s Post-Trial 

12/21/18 24 5817–5857 



xx 

 

Brief Regarding the Parties’ Equitable 
Claims and for Entry of Judgment 

85 The Dr. Miriam and Sheldon G. 
Adelson Educational Institute’s 
Verified Memorandum of Costs 

10/11/18 19 4576–4579 

71 The Estate’s Motion for Judgment as a 
Matter of Law Regarding Construction 
of Will 

09/03/18 18 4334–4341 

89 The Estate’s Motion for Post-Trial 
Relief from Judgment on Jury Verdict 
Entered October 4, 2018 

10/22/18 21 
22 

5168–5250 
5251–5455 

63 The Estate’s Motion for 
Reconsideration of: The Court’s Order 
Granting Summary Judgment on the 
Estate’s Claim for Breach of Oral 
Contract and Ex Parte Application for 
an Order Shortening Time 

08/14/18 11 2539–2623 

110 The Estate’s Opposition to the Adelson 
Campus’ Motion to Re-Tax and Settle 
Costs 

03/25/19 27 6522–6546 

57 The Estate’s Pretrial Memorandum 08/06/18 9 
10 

2246–2250 
2251–2263 

58 The Estate’s Pretrial Memorandum 08/06/18 10 2264–2274 
94 The Estate’s Reply to Adelson 

Campus’s Opposition to Motion for 
Post-Trial Relief from Judgment on 
Jury Verdict Entered on October 4, 
2018 

12/21/18 24 5804–5816 

96 The Estate’s Response to the Adelson 
Campus’ Post-Trial Brief on 
Outstanding Claims 

12/21/18 24 5858–5923 

32 Transcript for Motion for Summary 
Judgment 

07/09/14 6 1281–1322 

21 Transcript of Proceeding: Motion for 
Reconsideration 

12/10/13 3 639–669 

42 Transcript of Proceedings: Motion for 
Protective Order on Order Shortening 
Time 

04/19/17 6 1465–1482 
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22 Transcription of Discovery 
Commissioner Hearing Held on 
January 29, 2014 

01/29/14 3 670–680 

136 Trial Exhibit 111  28 6868–6869 
152 Trial Exhibit 1116A  29 7008 
137 Trial Exhibit 112  28 6870 
138 Trial Exhibit 113  28 6871 
139 Trial Exhibit 114  28 6872 
140 Trial Exhibit 115  28 6873 
141 Trial Exhibit 118  28 6874–6876 
142 Trial Exhibit 128  28 6877 
143 Trial Exhibit 130  28 6878–6879 
144 Trial Exhibit 134  28 6880–6882 
145 Trial Exhibit 139  28 6683–6884 
123 Trial Exhibit 14  27 6626–6628 
146 Trial Exhibit 149  28 6885–6998 
147 Trial Exhibit 158  28 6999 
148 Trial Exhibit 159  28 7000 
149 Trial Exhibit 162  28 7001 
150 Trial Exhibit 165  29 7002 
124 Trial Exhibit 17  27 6629–6638 
125 Trial Exhibit 22  27 6639–6645 
126 Trial Exhibit 28  27 6646–6647 
118 Trial Exhibit 3  27 6607–6609 
127 Trial Exhibit 38  27 6648–6649 
151 Trial Exhibit 384  29 7003–7007 
119 Trial Exhibit 4  27 6610–6611 
128 Trial Exhibit 41  27 6650–6675 
129 Trial Exhibit 43  27 6676–6679 
130 Trial Exhibit 44  27 6680–6682 
120 Trial Exhibit 5  27 6612–6620 
131 Trial Exhibit 51  27 6683–6684 
132 Trial Exhibit 52  27 6685–6686 
133 Trial Exhibit 55  27 6687–6713 
121 Trial Exhibit 6  27 6621 
134 Trial Exhibit 61  27 

28 
6714–6750 
6751–6799 
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135 Trial Exhibit 62  28 6800–6867 
122 Trial Exhibit 9  27 6622–6625 
69 Trial Transcripts (Rough Drafts)  09/03/18 12 

13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 

2903–3000 
3001–3250 
3251–3500 
3501–3750 
3751–4000 
4001–4250 
4251–4304 

76 Verdict Form 09/05/18 19 4513–4516 
103 Verified Memorandum of Costs of A. 

Jonathan Schwartz, Executor of the 
Estate of Milton I. Schwartz 

02/27/19 25 6111–6015 
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J. Randall Jones, Esq. (#1927) 
Joshua D. Carlson, Esq. (#11781) 
KEMP, JONES & COULTHARD, LLP 
3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, 17th Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
Telephone: (702) 385-6000 
Facsimile:  (702) 385-6001 
Attorneys for The Dr. Miriam and 
Sheldon G. Adelson Educational Institute 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 

In the Matter of the Estate of 

MILTON I. SCHWARTZ, 
 
                                     Deceased. 

Case No.: 07-P-061300 
Dept. No.:       26/Probate 
 
 
NOTICE OF ENTRY OF JUDGMENT ON 
JURY VERDICT 
 
 
 

 

 YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that a JUDGMENT ON 

JURY VERDICT was entered in the above-captioned case on October 4, 2018.  A copy of said 

Judgment is attached hereto. 
KEMP, JONES & COULTHARD, LLP 
 
 
  /s Joshua D. Carlson     
J. Randall Jones, Esq., Bar No. 3927 
Joshua D. Carlson, Esq. Bar No. 11781 
3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, 17th Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
Attorneys for The Dr. Miriam and Sheldon G. Adelson 
Educational Institute 

 

 

 

 

 

Case Number: 07P061300

Electronically Filed
10/5/2018 2:13 PM
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CLERK OF THE COURT
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that on the    5th    day of October, 2018, the foregoing NOTICE OF ENTRY 

OF JUDGMENT ON JURY VERDICT was served on the person(s) listed on the E-Service list via 

the court’s Electronic Service. 

 
 /s/ Pamela Montgomery    
An employee of Kemp, Jones & Coulthard, LLP  
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Case Number: 07P061300

Electronically Filed
10/4/2018 3:59 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

1 J. Randall Jones, Esq. (#1927) 
Joshua D. Carlson, Esq. (#11781) 

2 KEMP, JONES & COULTHARD, LLP 
3 800 Howard Hughes Parkway, 17th Floor 

3 Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
Telephone: (702) 385-6000 

4 Facsimile: (702) 385-6001 
Attorneys for The Dr. Miriam and 

5 Sheldon G. Adelson Educational Institute 

6 

7 
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9 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
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In the Matter of the Estate of Case No.: 07-P-061300 

MIL TON I. SCHWARTZ, 
Dept. No.: 261Probate 

Deceased. JUDGMENT ON JURY VERDICT 

This action came on for trial before the Court and a jury, Honorable Gloria Sturman, District 
~ g '-" 
;:,..~~ ~ 16 Judge, presiding, and the issues having been duly tried and the jury having duly rendered its verdict, 
~ 

"" ~ 17 as attached hereto as Exhibit "1 ". 

18 

19 Ill 

20 

21 Ill 

22 

23 Ill 

24 

25 I II 

26 

27 Ill 

28 
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1 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED and ADJUDGED that, pursuant to the jury's verdict, A. 

2 Jonathan Schwartz, Executor of Milton I. Schw~~ "Estate") take nothing by way of its claims 

3 for Breach of Contract,,Beq-uest Void ~pecific Performance and Injunctive Relief as plead 

4 in the Estate's Petition for Declaratory Relief and Supplement to Petition for Declaratory Relief to 

5 In lude ReJlledies of Specific Performance and Mandatory Injunction, and that these claims by the 
On t'1{ 

6 Estattii'be, and hereby are, di 0 '1lissed on the merits with prejudice. 
, ; I 6c.4<-•\. e.-< 

7 

8 

9 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

DATEDthi.5.1 ctayof~,2018. 

. #1927) 
Jos D. Carlso q. (#11781) 
380 Howard Hughes Parkway, 17th Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
Attorneys for The Dr. Miriam and 
Sheldon G. Adelson Educational Institute 

. 
,,.- ,, ·;:,"'·· •1 .--~ /'7 / I /'" /7_,//~l) .----?a~,;~~~f J/ V L-/---~-
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2 

3 

4 

5 In the Matter of the Estate of 

6 MILTON I. SCHWARTZ, 

7 

8 

9 

Deceased. 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEV ADA 

STEVEN D. GRIERSON 
CLERK OF THE COURT 

SEP 05 20!8 

Case No. P061300 
Dept. No.: 26/Probate 

VERDICT FORM. 
10 In the Matter of the Estate of MIL TON I. SCHWARTZ, we the jury find as 

ll follows: 

12 Question 1: 

l 3 Do you find that Milton I. Schwartz had a naming rights contract? 

14 Yes__ No_½_. 

15 
If you answered YES to Question 1, please proceed to answer Questions 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 

16 
and 7. If you answered NO, skip to Question 8. 

17 

18 Question 2: 

19 Was the contract oral or founded upon a writing or writings? 

20 Oral 

21 
Question 3: 

22 

Written 

If you answered YES to Question l, was the contract in perpetuity? 
23 

Yes 
24 

25 ! I I 

26 

27 

28 

Ill 

No 
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1 Question 4: 

2 What was the consideration (amount of money) that Milton I. Schwartz was 

3 required to pay in exchange for a naming rights contract? 

4 

5 

Question 5: 
6 

7 
Did Milton I. Schwartz perform all of his obligations under the terms of the contract? 

8 
· Yes No 

9 

10 If you answered NO, please skip to Question 8. If you answered YES to Question 5, 

11 please proceed to answer Question 6. 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Question 6: 

In addition to the consideration (amount of money Milton I. Schwartz agreed to pay), 

what were the other specific terms of the contract? 

Corporation Yes No 

Campus Yes No 

Elementary School Building Yes No 

Elementary School Yes No 

Middle School Yes No 

Entrance Monument Yes No 

Letterhead Yes No 

None of the Above 

All of the Above 
. 

In Question 2, if you found that the contract was a written agreement, please answer 

Question 7. If you found the contract was an oral agreement, please skip to Question 

8. 
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I 

2 Question 7: 

3 Did the School breach the Contract? 

4 Yes No 

5 

6 Question 8: (Please circle one) 

7 Do you find that in 2004, when Milton I. Schwartz wrote the following: 

8 

9 

10 

II 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

2.3 The Milton'I: Schwartz Hebrew Academy. I hereby give, devise, 
and bequeath the sum of five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000.00) 
to the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy (the, "Hebrew Academy") 
that: 

0 He intended that the Bequest be made only to a school known as the "Milton 

I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy" for the purposes set forth in the Bequest. OR 

b. He intended the Bequest be made to the school presently known as the Adelson 

Educational Institute. 

17 Question 9: 

18 Do you find that the reason Milton I. Schwartz made the Bequest was based on his 

19 belief that he had a naming rights agreement with the School which was in perpetuity? 

20 Yes~ No 

21 

22 

23 Question 10: (ONLY IF YOU FIND YES TO QUESTION NOS. 1, 2, 5, AND 7) 

24 What was the appropriate amount of damages that the School should pay the Estate 

25 to remedy the breach of contract? 

26 $ _____ _ 

27 

28 
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1 

2 Question 11: (ONLY IF YOU ANSWERED "NO" TO QUESTION NO. 1.) 

3 Do you believe that the School acted in a manner in which the School should have 

4 reasonably expected to induce Milton I. Schwartz's reliance and which did induce 

5 Milton I. Schwartz's detrimental reliance? 

6 Yes No X 
7 

8 Question 12: (ONLY ANSWER IF YOU ANSWERED ''NO" TO QUESTION 

9 NO. 1) 

10 Do you find that Milton I. Schwartz believed that he had a naming rights contract 

11 with the School but was mistaken? 

12 Yes __ · No.$_ 

13 

14 Question 13: (ONLY ANSWER IF YOU ANSWERED "NO" TO QUESTION 

15 NO. 1 AND "YES" TO QUESTION NO. 12) 

16 Did Milton I. Schwartz make the Bequest to the School based on his mistaken 

17 belief? 

18 Yes No 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

DATE 
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

07P061300

Probate - General Administration August 09, 2018COURT MINUTES

07P061300 In the Matter of the Estate of 
Milton Schwartz

August 09, 2018 01:30 PM All Pending Motions

HEARD BY: 

COURT CLERK:

COURTROOM: Sturman, Gloria

Shell, Lorna

RJC Courtroom 10D

JOURNAL ENTRIES

MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT REGARDING FRAUD:
Mr. Free requested the motion be withdrawn.  COURT ORDERED, Motion for Partial Summary Judgment 
WITHDRAWN as MOOT.

MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT REGARDING STATUTE OF LIMITATION:
Following extensive arguments by counsel, COURT ORDERED, Motion GRANTED.

MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT REGARDING BREACH OF CONTRACT
AND 
OPPOSITION TO MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT REGARDING BREACH OF CONTRACT AND 
COUNTERMOTION FOR ADVISORY JURY:
Following arguments by counsel, COURT ORDERED, Motion DENIED.

MOTION IN LIMINE NO. 1 TO STRIKE THE EXPERT REPORT OF RABBI YITZCHAK WYNE AND 
PRECLUDE HIM FROM TESTIFYING AT TRIAL:
COURT ORDERED, Rabbi Yitzchak Wyne STRICKEN as an expert; however the question regarding 
whether he could testify as a fact witness CONTINUED to August 16, 2018 for Counsel to supplement the 
record.

MOTION IN LIMINE NO. 2 TO STRIKE THE EXPERT REPORT OF LAYNE T. RUSHFORTH, ESQ. AND 
PRECLUDE HIM FROM TESTIFYING AT TRIAL:
COURT ORDERED, Motion GRANTED.

MOTION IN LIMINE NO. 3 TO PRECLUDE JONATHAN SCHWARTZ FROM TESTIFYING AT TRIAL 
ABOUT STATEMENTS ALLEGEDLY MADE TO HIM BY MILTON I. SCHWARTZ:
COURT ORDERED, Motion CONTINUED.

MOTION IN LIMINE NO 4 TO PRECLUDE RESPONDENT FROM INTRODUCING OR RELYING ON 
SCHWARTZ FAMILY DECLARATIONS:

PARTIES PRESENT:

Milton I Schwartz, Decedent, Not Present Alan D. Freer, Attorney, Not Present

Jonathan A Schwartz, Other, Petitioner, Not Present Alan D. Freer, Attorney, Not Present

Abigail R Schwartz, Beneficiary, Not Present Pro Se

The Dr Miriam and Sheldon G Adelson Educational 
Institute, Other, Not Present

Jon   Randall Jones, Attorney, Not Present

Parties Receiving Notice, Other, Not Present

Page 1 of 3Printed Date: 8/24/2018

Notice: Journal Entries are prepared by the courtroom clerk and are not the official record of the Court.

August 09, 2018Minutes Date:
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COURT ORDERED, Motion WITHDRAWN.

MOTION IN LIMINE NO 5 TO PRECLUDE RESPONDENT WITNESSES FROM TESTIFYING ABOUT 
STATEMENTS ALLEGEDLY MADE BY MILTON I SCHWARTZ:
COURT ORDERED, Motion CONTINUED.

MOTION IN LIMINE NO 6 TO PRECLUDE RESPONDENT FROM INTRODUCING OR RELYING ON 
THE AFFIDAVIT OF MILTON I SCHWARTZ:
COURT ORDERED, Motion CONTINUED.

MOTION IN LIMINE NO 7 TO PRE ADMIT CERTAIN DOCUMENTS AND VIDEO INTO EVIDENCE:
COURT ORDERED, Motion MOOT, Motion will be handled by a stipulation based on 2.47 meeting.

MOTION IN LIMINE NO 8 TO PRE-INSTRUCT THE JURY ON CERTAIN ISSUES:
Following arguments by counsel, COURT ORDERED, Motion DENIED as to all issues.

CONTINUED to 08/16/18  1:45 PM

Aug 15, 2018  10:30AM All Pending Motions
Motion to Strike Jury Demand on OST... Pre Trial Conference ...  Motion in Limine No. 1... Motion in 
Limine No. 3... Motion in Limine No. 5... Motion in Limine No. 6
RJC Courtroom 10D Sturman, Gloria

Aug 15, 2018  10:30AM Pre Trial Conference
RJC Courtroom 10D Sturman, Gloria

Aug 15, 2018  10:30AM Motion
Motion to Strike Jury Demand on an Order Shortening Time
RJC Courtroom 10D Sturman, Gloria

Aug 15, 2018  10:30AM Motion
Motion to Strike Jury Demand on an Order Shortening Time
RJC Courtroom 10D Judge Sturman, Probate

Aug 16, 2018   1:45PM All Pending Motions
RJC Courtroom 10D Sturman, Gloria

Aug 16, 2018   1:45PM Motion
The Estate's Motion for Reconsideration of : The Court's Order Granting Summary Judgment on the 
Estate's Claim for Breach of Oral Contract and Ex Parte Application for an Order Shortening Time
RJC Courtroom 10D Sturman, Gloria

Aug 16, 2018   1:45PM Motion
Motion in Limine No. 1 To Strike The Expert Report of Rabbi Yitzchak Wyne and Preclude Him From 
Testifying At Trial
RJC Courtroom 10D Sturman, Gloria

INTERIM CONDITIONS:

FUTURE HEARINGS:

Page 2 of 3Printed Date: 8/24/2018

Notice: Journal Entries are prepared by the courtroom clerk and are not the official record of the Court.

August 09, 2018Minutes Date:
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Aug 16, 2018   1:45PM Motion
Motion In Limine No. 3 To Preclude Jonathan Schwartz From Testifying At Trial About Statements 
Allegedly Made To Him By Milton I. Schwartz
RJC Courtroom 10D Sturman, Gloria

Aug 16, 2018   1:45PM Motion
Motion in Limine No 5 to Preclude Respondent Witnesses from Testifying About Statements Allegedly 
Made by Milton I Schwartz
RJC Courtroom 10D Sturman, Gloria

Aug 16, 2018   1:45PM Motion
Motion in Limine No 6 to Preclude Respondent From Introducing or Relying on the Affidavit of Milton I 
Schwartz
RJC Courtroom 10D Sturman, Gloria

Aug 20, 2018   9:00AM Jury Trial
RJC Courtroom 10D Sturman, Gloria

Aug 21, 2018   1:00PM Jury Trial
RJC Courtroom 10D Sturman, Gloria

Aug 22, 2018   1:00PM Jury Trial
RJC Courtroom 10D Sturman, Gloria

Aug 23, 2018   1:00PM Jury Trial
RJC Courtroom 10D Sturman, Gloria

Aug 24, 2018   9:00AM Jury Trial
RJC Courtroom 10D Sturman, Gloria

Page 3 of 3Printed Date: 8/24/2018

Notice: Journal Entries are prepared by the courtroom clerk and are not the official record of the Court.

August 09, 2018Minutes Date:
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 Deceased   
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  CASE NO. 07-P-061300 
 
  DEPT.  XXVI 
 
 
 

 )  

BEFORE THE HONORABLE GLORIA J. STURMAN, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 

THURSDAY, AUGUST 9, 2018 
 

RECORDER'S TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING ON MOTIONS IN LIMINE AND 
MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

     
APPEARANCES:     
 
  For the Estate of Milton I. Schwartz: ALEXANDER G. LEVEQUE, ESQ. 
      ALAN D. FREER, ESQ. 
       
  For The Dr. Miriam and Sheldon  J. RANDALL JONES, ESQ. 
  G. Adelson Educational Institute:  JOSHUA D. CARLSON, ESQ. 
      MADISON P. ZORNES-VELA, ESQ. 
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Las Vegas, Nevada, August 9, 2019 

 

[Case called at 1:32 p.m.] 

THE COURT:   So, we'll go right  across the room.  So, we'll start 

with -- 

MR. LeVEQUE:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Alex LeVeque on 

behalf of the estate. 

MR. FREER:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Alan Freer on behalf of 

the estate.  With us is also Jonathan Schwartz.  And just so Your Honor knows, 

he's got another engagement that he's got to attend later this afternoon, so if 

he leaves it's not because of anything going on here. 

THE COURT:  No problem.  Thanks for being here. 

MR. JONES:  Yes, Your Honor.  Randall Jones on behalf of the 

Adelson School.   

MR. CARLSON:  Joshua Carlson also on behalf of the Adelson 

School. 

MS. ZORNES:  Madison Zornes-Vela also on behalf of the Adelson 

School.   

THE COURT:  All right.  So, we have a number of things on tap 

here.  One was -- have a seat.  I was -- have we ever arranged for how we're 

going to figure out if you guys have objections to people on who did the 

questionnaires?  Have you talked about maybe excluding -- agreeing on some 

of those people who we can dismiss or -- because I've just been sending you 

the ones that are requests for excuse as they came in. 

MR. LeVEQUE:  We have, Your Honor.  At the last status check, I 
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think the agreement was we were going to go over that during calendar call on 

the 15th. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  I just want to make sure that we were working 

on that so that those people who it's agreed don't need to come in and be 

questioned, could be excused. 

MR. LeVEQUE:  And just as a glimpse into that issue, Your Honor, I 

think there's going to be a lot  

THE COURT:  A lot of conflict? 

MR. LeVEQUE:  -- for cause, excusal for cause. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. LeVEQUE:  Excusal for cause. 

THE COURT:  That's why you asked for 200. 

MR. JONES:  Sure.   

THE COURT:  It's hard. 

MR. JONES:  I think we anticipated there would be an issue there.  

To add to the intrigue about the issue, when we were preparing for today -- we 

started looking at things and actually just getting ready for trial -- some of the 

issues that came up in response to some of our motions, including the motion 

for advisory jury, we realized, or at least we believed that actually this is not an 

appropriate case for a jury trial. 

THE COURT:  I've been wondering about that. 

MR. JONES:  And we actually just filed a motion, Your Honor, I 

think it's still in your box.  And we really started looking at that two days ago.  

And so, we started researching it to make sure we weren't completely out in 

left field.  And the more we looked at it, the more meritorious we thought that 
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position was. 

We sent a motion on order shortening time over for you today.  We 

also immediately emailed the draft or the document to counsel, so they would 

have it right away, even though you haven't seen it yet.  You should have got 

that this afternoon.   

MR. LeVEQUE:  Yeah, It might have been while we were driving 

over. 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

MR. JONES:  So -- Yeah, you should have that.  If you don't have it 

by within -- if you want to check . 

MR. LeVEQUE:  Not yet. 

MR. JONES:  If you don't have it within the next hour let me know, 

and we'll make sure to find out where it is, because they've been told to get it 

over to you, so. 

So that's something that, you know, obviously we need to take up.  

If our position is correct, we think it would -- and I'm not trying to argue the 

motion, I'm just bringing up a point that if it is correct, I think it would be a 

mistrial to try the case to a jury, so. 

THE COURT:  Well, I don't think we're that far, but I was just 

wondering what the jury issues were. 

MR. JONES:  And I'm not trying to -- again, I'm not trying to argue 

the point, I'm just pointing out that it is something we think the Court needs to 

at least look at and consider, and I think it's important to both sides and the 

Court that we give that a full vetting before we proceed with a jury. 

MR. FREER:  And once we have a chance to look at it, we'll be able 
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to respond. 

MR. JONES:  Sure. 

THE COURT:  Yeah, I don't remember now who it was that 

requested the jury.   

MR. FREER:  We did. 

THE COURT:   And that's how it got up here, yeah. 

MR. FREER:  Yeah, with respect to primarily the will construction 

and then also with the declaratory relief statutes allowing trial by jury, but we 

can get to that when we get to it.   

THE COURT:  Sure.  Great.  All right.  So, we are working on 

reviewing our jury questionnaires, and we may have this other issue, which, 

you know, if I read the pretrials and everything, then we can move on 

(indiscernible).   

So, we have motions in limine, and we have the motions for 

summary judgment.  Which order do you want to go in?  I would assume 

motions for summary judgment. 

MR. JONES:  I think that makes more sense, Your Honor,  

because -- 

THE COURT:  Or do you think there are some issues on some of 

the motions in limine that might affect the motion for summary judgment? 

MR. JONES:  Well, actually -- I actually -- I think it kind of works 

both ways.   

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MR. JONES:  Some of those motions for summary judgement will 

affect the motions in limine and vice versa.   
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THE COURT:  Yeah, so I don’t know that it really ends up mattering 

which way we go.  Start with motions for summary judgment?   

MR. FREER:  No, their motions we're prepared to argue them any 

which way.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right. 

MR. FREER:  The only thing, as I did speak to Mr. Jones right 

before, I've had a chance to consult with the client with respect to the motion 

for summary judgment, with respect to the fraud claim.  We are withdrawing 

or abandoning the claim for fraud.   

THE COURT:  I think that would be advisable. 

MR. FREER:  And so -- well, at the time we asserted it, we didn't 

know what the intent was, so. 

THE COURT:  Yeah, you didn't know.  But, no, I -- yeah, I think this  

-- that was a good choice. 

MR. FREER:  So, that motion will now be moot. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  So, for the minutes then, so that they don't 

think we forgot to hear a motion, that upon calling the motion and discussion 

with counsel, it's determined that the Plaintiff has withdrawn that claim.  And 

so, we are going to consider it moot and there's no ruling.  All right. 

So, now we've got breach of contract, and we've got statute of 

limitations.  Any preference for the order? 

MR. JONES:  Perhaps the statute of limitations -- 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. JONES:  -- makes some sense, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Okay. 
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MR. JONES:  The statute of limitations addressed two of the 

claims; the fraud claim, which, as I understand it, has been abandoned and the 

oral contract.  So, I'll focus on the oral contract if I may. 

As is my habit, Your Honor, I always like to start by asking if there's 

anything in particular that the Court wants me to address.  I'll be happy to do 

that first.  If it's important to you or it's an issue for you, then, obviously, it's 

something I need to respond to. 

THE COURT:  The question I had, I remember procedurally, that 

this started with the Adelson School's petition to get the distribution from the 

estate. 

MR. JONES:  Your recollection is correct. 

THE COURT:  Does that have any relevance to -- which is 

essentially an affirmative defense or -- 

MR. JONES:  Yeah, I wouldn't disagree with that.  I think essentially 

as you said, the school filed a petition to seek to enforce the bequest of the 

will.  The Estate then filed a petition asserting a number of objections and/or 

affirmative defenses in connection with that request and asserting certain 

claims related to those issues.   

And so, there's our petition, and then there's the Estate's petition 

that came second.   

THE COURT:  In other words, they didn't -- wait.  The estate did not 

file initially seeking instructions to interpret the will and say that you don't 

have to pay that money.  They didn't initiate this, in other words. 

MR. JONES:  That is correct. 

THE COURT:  So, is there any relevance to the fact that these 
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issues were raised in response to your petition to --  

MR. JONES:  Well -- 

THE COURT:  -- yeah, how do we get by the statute of limitations? 

MR. JONES:  I don’t think there is any relevance to that question.  It 

may have some implications on some other issues in the case, but I don't think 

it has any implications as to the statute of limitations. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. JONES:  I think, Your Honor, as you certainly know, I know 

you practiced for many years before you went on the bench, and I know you're 

familiar with the statute of limitations and the general law connected with the 

statute of limitations.  And so, while I don't want to belabor the point, I think it 

is important to point out something that most lawyers know and certainly if 

they don't, they should know, that the discovery rule applies to statute of 

limitations and the discovery rule -- and for purposes of authority, one case we 

cited was Peterson vs. Bruin, where the court held that when an injured party 

discovers or reasonably should have discovered facts supporting the action is 

when the statute is triggered. 

So, there's some interesting aspects of this case in a sense that Mr. 

Schwartz, Jonathan Schwartz, who is the Executor, so as you know the 

Executor has an affirmative duty, because you're the probate judge, to pursue 

claims for the estate.  That's something that is an actual fiduciary duty that an 

executor of an estate has.  So, if they know about a claim of the estate, they're 

supposed to pursue it. 

Adding to that, there's the fact that Mr. Schwartz is an attorney.  

So, Mr. Schwartz has knowledge that the average lay person who might be 
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appointed or designated as an executor wouldn't necessarily have.  And 

knowledge that would be important to the issue of the statute of limitations. 

So, that's the factual background that we start this analysis with.  

You either knew or recently should have discovered in the context of an 

Executor who has obligations to discover these claims, affirmatively discover 

any existing claims for an Estate, and add to that an Executor who happens to 

be a licensed attorney. 

So, with that backdrop, if you look back at the uncontestable facts 

of this case, you will see that Mr. Schwartz -- and this is at page five of our 

brief -- and I'm going to make sure I got that right, it was five of the brief -- yes, 

it's page five of our brief where we point out -- it's at the bottom of page five -- 

starting at line 24:  Mr. Schwartz confirmed in his sworn testimony that these 

events occurred -- and that we cited his testimony up above those lines -- 

where he would hear about, through the community through the years 2007, 

2008, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2013, 2014, et cetera, about issues that gave him the 

belief and a suspicion that the alleged agreement had been breached or 

violated by the school. 

Now, of course, the dates in 2011, '12, and '13 are not relevant for 

purposes of our discussion, because they would be inside the statute of 

limitations.  They filed a complaint that the -- the Estate filed a complaint in 

2013. 

So, we have a four-year statute.  I don't think anybody can contest 

that with respect to an oral agreement, a four-year statute of limitations.  

We're not talking about any alleged written agreement.  That's a different 

subject.  And so, if you look at it that way -- so, what did Mr. Schwartz know or 
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what did he have reason to suspect four years prior to the running of the 

statute of limitations or four years prior to the filing of the complaint?  So, 

based on Mr. Schwartz' own testimony, he said:  Quote -- under oath -- I hear, 

you know, statements from board members, statements from, you know, 

people who sent their kids there, you know.  They're not respecting your dad's 

legacy, all kinds of -- all of this kind of stuff.  And this was, you know, a series 

of events and little by little they diminished my father's naming rights and 

supplanted it completely with Adelson, which was not the agreement.   

So, as early as 2007 Mr. Schwartz is saying he is aware of 

information that made him believe that the agreement was being diminished 

or violated. 

Now, what else do we also know?  We know that the name of the 

corporation, which had been the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy, had 

actually been formally changed in 2008.  And that's a recorded document, as 

you know, at the Secretary of State's Office.  Around the middle of 2008, the 

signage to the school, the actual signage to the school changed in 2008.  The 

letterhead changed in 2008 to add the Adelson family -- Adelson Foundation or 

family.  The website changed.  These are all things that are patently available 

information.  So, we know for a fact that this happened. 

Now, the other thing that I want to point out to the Court that is an 

uncontested fact here, if I can find the page.  I'm sure it's here, Your Honor.  

May I approach, Your Honor? 

THE COURT:  Sure.   

MR. JONES:  Your Honor, that is -- the letter was referenced as an 

exhibit in our motion.  This is a letter from Mr. Schwartz, Jonathan Schwartz, 
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2010.  And what I want to point out to the Court is if you look at the last page 

of two thousand and -- excuse me -- of Mr. Schwartz' letter, it's highlighted 

there, I highlighted for all parties, for the Court and counsel, and it says in the 

second or the top full paragraph says:  The draft settlement agreement 

basically accepts what the school is already doing, despite the fact that some 

of what the school has done in the last two-and-a-half years breaches the 

agreement.  If you go back two and a half years from May of 2010, that's the 

end of 2007.   

So, here we have in writing from the Executor of the Estate, who is 

an attorney, stating unequivocally that there have been violations of this 

agreement, according to him, going all the way back to 2007. 

Now, Your Honor, I don't know how much better it gets for a 

lawyer than an admission by a party opponent that they had knowledge of the 

claim prior to the -- or let me put it a different way -- in a timeframe that makes 

this running of the statute of limitations unequivocal.  I don't know how I can 

beat that evidence ever.  That's an admission against interest of knowledge of 

the claim well prior to the running of the statute of limitations.  And I have to 

say, Your Honor, I think that that should be the end of the inquiry. 

Now, they're going to also talk about -- and, by the way, the 

petition itself on page -- I believe page five of the petition, which was verified 

by Mr. Schwartz -- yeah, page five of the petition says:  The Executor became 

aware of the Academy breach on or about March 10 of -- or excuse me, March 

of 2010.  Now, that would be inside the statute or outside the statute of 

limitations for the fraud claim, but it just reinforces the statement that Mr. 

Schwartz was clearly aware of this long before, long before the complaint was 
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filed.   

So, they -- I think in an attempt -- not that I blame them -- but in an 

attempt to get around these admissions that are I think conclusory in terms of 

the merits of this motion, they try to bring up an equitable estoppel argument, 

but in that case equitable estoppel is not appropriate, because it only applies 

where the party didn't pursue the rights because they were denied -- or, 

excuse me, induced to forebear.   

In other words, Your Honor, you could argue equitable estoppel as 

well, I didn't sue you because you kept promising me you were going to do 

this, and I relied on that promise. 

There is no evidence, not a scintilla of evidence, that for all the 

depositions that have been done, after all the documents have been produced, 

not a scintilla of evidence to demonstrate that Mr. Schwartz was induced to 

forebear so that he then would have the statute of limitations run on him. 

And, in fact, the evidence is contrary to that, that Mr. Schwartz was 

repeatedly talking to the school about things and the school never once, after 

he started talking to them, all the way back in 2008, suggested to him that they 

were going to agree to what he thought the situation was with his father's 

naming rights, alleged naming rights.   

So, if anything, the evidence is contrary to any suggestion that 

there was any inducement to forebear.  So equitable estoppel plainly does not 

apply.   

And, by the way, with respect to the issue of knowledge, under the 

Massey v. Litton case, that's a 1983 case from Nevada, the issue is on the 

knowledge of or access to facts, rather than the discovery of legal theories.  In 
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other words, did Mr. Schwartz have access to facts which would demonstrate 

to him that his alleged -- his father's alleged naming rights had been violated?  

Well, he certainly had access to the Secretary of State's Office.  Anybody can 

go on line and get that.   

 Secondly, he could -- all he had to do was drive by the school 

and see that the name up there was the Adelson Campus.  All he had to do 

was get a piece of letterhead.  All you have to do is actually go to the school 

and look, which, by the way, he acknowledges he was aware of these things 

back in 2007, 2008, and 2009.  But, again, the point is, is whether he had access 

to this information, and he clearly -- and this is Nevada law. 

And, finally, I guess the final point I would make is that if a party's 

knowledge is not complete, that party is under a duty to exercise proper 

diligence to learn more.  That's an Aldabe v. Adams case.  That's a 1965 

Nevada case and it's still good law which makes perfect sense. 

Here's the point there, Judge.  Mr. Schwartz says in his own letter 

from two thousand -- or, excuse me, I'm sorry -- his own letter from 2010:  I 

have known for the last two-and-a-half years that you've been doing things to 

violate my father's alleged naming rights agreement.   

Now, if they get up here and say well, yeah, but he didn't know 

enough, he didn't know how bad it was.  First of all, I think that's an oxymoron.  

In a case like this, a breach is a breach is a breach.  But let's just say that he 

says well, you know, I knew that they had put the Adelson name on the middle 

school, and I thought there was kind of a breach, but I wasn't quite sure.   

Nevada law is clear.  If you have reason to believe that a breach is 

occurring, or you have information that leads you to believe that something is 
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wrong, you have a duty -- an affirmative duty, to go, and determine, and do 

your due diligence to see whether in fact it is occurring, which, by the way, is 

consistent with his duty as the Executor of the Estate.  He's got a duty to 

pursue claims for the estate in a timely manner.  And he just didn't do it. 

Any questions, Your Honor? 

THE COURT:  No. 

MR. FREER:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  I guess I will return the 

favor.  Is there anything you'd like me to address first before I -- 

THE COURT:  Well, it's kind of the same thing.  Because this is in 

the context of an Estate, does that in any way affect the running of the statute 

of limitations; because the way this was pled was in response to their petition 

to make the distribution.  Instead of having sought instructions earlier, it's just 

responded to as an opposition to why they haven't made the distribution.  So, 

what, if anything, about that factual situation? 

MR. FREER:  Yeah, I think Your Honor hit it on the point, is those 

were, essentially, counterclaims and/or affirmative defenses that were raised 

by the Estate.  That was recognized by the school in its opposition to motion 

for reconsideration filed in December 2013.  It's page five, footnote two.   

If you look at the claims that we've raised, other than the 

supplemental claim for relief number two, which we've abandoned claim 

number two, that was the fraud claim, the rest of the first five claims that we're 

seeking declaratory relief for are affirmative defenses to the school's petition 

to compel distribution of the bequest.   

Affirmative defenses to the enforcement of a claim are not subject 

to the statute of limitations.  And we point that out.  We cite the Nevada State 
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Bank v. Jamison Family, the Tomini v. Global Company.  They're not subject to 

the statute of limitations.  Even the supplemental relief with respect to that, it's 

a counterclaim.  And there are cases out there that basically say when you 

raise a counterclaim, that too is not subject to the statute of limitations. 

So, from our perspective, I think you hit the nail on the head is 

when we're forced into litigation, we bring these, we're entitled to do so. 

With respect to the issues raised, you know the only 

uncontroverted evidence here is the statement made by Jonathan in the 

verified pleading that he knew in March of 2010.  That was in the petition for 

declaratory relief filed May 31st, 2013, and the letter that they just cite that was 

sent to Sheldon Adelson on May 10th, 2010.   

All the statement that the letter sent to Sheldon Adelson says is the 

fact that he knows as of 2010, that they've been doing stuff for two-and-a-half 

years.  It doesn't say when he learned that he knew the stuff, it just says as of 

2010, I know that he's been breaching for two-and-a-half years.   

Now, as Your Honor knows, we are to talk about the discovery rule.  

The discovery rule is an issue of fact.  It provides questions and where there's 

a jury involved, you know, Saragossa v. Brown says the time of discovery is a 

question of fact for the factfinder and where the facts are susceptible to 

opposing inferences.  The inquiry notice that Mr. Jones talks about under 

Saragossa is also an issue of fact as to whether or not Jonathan exercised 

reasonable diligence. 

Here, there are a lot of issues.  Other than those two that I just 

talked about, there are a lot of issues that create issues of fact as to when 

Jonathan knew about the name change.  Although the Adelson School 
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amended its articles of incorporation in 2008 to reflect the name change, the 

school never notified Jonathan of the change or had any -- or that anything 

had changed regarding the co-existence of the high school with the Milton I. 

Schwartz Hebrew Academy that was agreed to in 2007, before Milt died, that 

that status quo had changed.   

From the time after the Articles of Incorporation were filed in 

February of 2008 through 2011, the Adelson School repeatedly provided 

Jonathan with mailings from the school that are in the name of the Milton I. 

Schwartz Hebrew Academy.  And we attached those.  For example, Exhibit 28 

to our opposition is an April 17, 2008 letter that has Meesha (phonetic) 

letterhead showing that both schools were in existence together.   

And it didn't say Adelson Education Camp, it said the Adelson 

School.  And that's what was consistent in 2007.  Indeed, it was thanking him 

for his leadership gift to the quote, Dr. Miriam and Sheldon G. Adelson School 

and the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy 2008 in pursuit of excellence 

awards.   

The same thing.  In May of 2008, later that year, another letter with 

Meesha letterhead showing that both schools were in existence together, co-

consistent with the understanding in 2007.  Again, thanks him for another 

donation. 

In March of 2010 there's an envelope with only the Milton I. 

Schwartz Hebrew Academy seal prominently displayed on the cover.   

So, the correspondence that the school was sending has Milton I. 

Schwartz Hebrew Academy on it.  It doesn't require, and it doesn't say -- it 

doesn't notify him that the Adelson campus is the only entity around. 
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Consistent with that, is when Jonathan toured the school, he 

testified in his deposition that Paul Shipman and Victor Chaltiel would go out 

of their way to reassure Jonathan that the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy 

was still in existence saying look, your dad's name is still up on the school.  

And that's Jonathan's declaration that we attach at Exhibit 15, at paragraph F, 

and it's also in his deposition testimony at page 75, lines 22 through 25.   

Jonathan testified in the declaration that we attached to the 

opposition that he reasonably relied upon that.  In fact, he continued to make 

donations to the school and the school continued to accept those donations in 

the name of the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy.  This evidence creates a 

substantial issue of fact as to when Jonathan knew or should have known the 

breach occurred.   

Now, in addition to creating facts as to the inquiry notice, this 

evidence also creates issues of fact with respect to whether or not equity tolls 

or estops the school from asserting the statute of limitations.  The school's 

actions in sending that correspondence, the school's actions in showing 

Jonathan that his father's name is still up there, constitute grounds for other 

equitable tolling all together or estopping the school from asserting, that that 

is a question of fact.   

Now, much has been said about Jonathan's testimony.  And 

contrary to the school's spin on what he said, he basically said that he was not 

concise about a particular event occurring, he is saying that he found 

documents at some point in the litigation indicating the school had changed its 

name in 2007.  His statement knew about it as it was occurring is completely 

out of context.   
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And, in fact, if you look at page 49 of his deposition transcript, the 

question was:  When did you first find out?  You said things changed 

sometime in 2008.  I found out through the course of this deposition, through 

the course of this litigation.  At some point received documents in discovery.  

At some point I found documents, I think December of 2007, where the name 

of the school had been changed and no one had ever told me about that.  The 

first time I knew of it was when I read that document.  I knew about -- it was 

occurring, death by a thousand cuts.  I would hear, you know, statements from 

people who sent their kids.  You know, stuff.  They're not respecting your 

dad's legacy, all of this kind of stuff.  And it was a series of events that little by 

little they diminished my father's naming rights."   

There isn't anything in there where he's admitting sufficient for this 

Court to enter as a matter of law that he knew in 2007.  And further on in his 

deposition testimony he states he didn't receive definitive proof of it until May 

28, 2013.  That's page 51, lines 3 through 16.   

Remember, this is in context of him receiving correspondence, 

conflicting correspondence, from the school and statements from the school's 

officers, Paul Shipman and Victor Chaltiel. 

Now, these conflicting innuendos Jonathan received do not raise 

inquiry notice as a matter of law.  It may create a question of fact, but in order 

to demonstrate inquiry notice, the Defendant must demonstrate that the 

Plaintiff acquired the information that suggested the probability of the injury, 

not a possibility.  And hearing innuendos and statements such as disrespect 

don't raise a probability, it's a possibility.  That's De La Fuente v. DCI 

Communications, 206 F.R.D. 369.  You cannot say that those innuendos create 
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any kind of obligation as a matter of law.  It creates an issue of fact at most.   

Likewise, the constructive notice that they talk about with respect 

to the filing of the Secretary of State doesn't trigger the statute of limitations 

as a matter of law.  As we pointed out in our brief, constructive notice 

normally involves some sort of actual notice of the facts or circumstances that 

will be sufficient to put them on -- a prudent person on notice. 

And so ,if you put all of this in the context, the prudent person 

standard would essentially be what a reasonable person who is being 

affirmatively provided correspondence from a school stating that it has the 

name Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy, a school that accepts its donations 

in the name of Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy, a school who has two of 

its officers and representatives take them on tours and say see, your dad's 

name is still on the building, be placed on inquiry notice to check the Secretary 

of State website that a name change has occurred.  That's a question of fact.  

That's not a question of law.   

THE COURT:  I have a question about the affidavit, your client's 

affidavit, paragraph 15 where he talks about:  After my father's death I 

continued to make donations.  Was that on behalf of the Estate or was that 

personal to Jonathan?  I couldn't tell. 

MR. FREER:  I would need to confer with my client. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. FREER:  I believe a lot of those were done at least on behalf of 

the trust, but I would need to confer with my client on that. 

THE COURT:  Okay.   

MR. FREER:  Now, using the March 2010 date that is basically, you 
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know, with the petition for declaratory relief, that doesn't do anything.  That 

doesn't prohibit any of our claims.  Other than the supplemental relief claim 

that we've already abandoned, as I already pointed out, the rest of the claims 

are either affirmative defenses or counterclaims. 

The supplemental relief for breach of contract and specific 

performance are governed by six-year statutes, not four years.  NRS 11.190 

provides a six-year statute of limitations for actions upon a contract founded 

upon an instrument in writing.  The Nevada Supreme Court has said strict 

construction should not be applied by courts in determining what does and 

what does not constitute a contract in writing.  That's El Rancho v. New York.   

The six-year statute applies to the breach of contract claim because 

the instruments in writing for which those claims are based upon, as we'll talk 

about in a bit, consists of school minutes and bylaws, internal school 

documents. 

MR. JONES:  Counsel, I don't mean to interrupt, I may help you.  

As I said, we're not trying to argue the written --  

THE COURT:  That was my understanding. 

MR. FREER:  Okay.  All right. 

MR. JONES:  -- we don't believe there's a written agreement, but 

as it relates to the statute of limitations, our position is not -- on the statute is 

not -- 

MR. FREER:  Okay. 

THE COURT:  That was my understanding -- 

MR. JONES:  -- in connection with the -- 

THE COURT:  -- it was just the three and the four-year statutes that 
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we talked about. 

MR. JONES:  -- in connection with the alleged written contract.   

MR. FREER:  All right.  So, based --  

MR. JONES:  -- It's only related to oral. 

MR. FREER:  -- based on that, Your Honor, the only issue we've got 

is those two documents.  Everything else is a question of fact that needs to be 

analyzed and evaluated in total of the evidence that's produced at trial.  Thank 

you. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  One more question because, again, this really 

is about interpretation of a will and the bequests in the will to the Milton I. 

Schwartz Hebrew Academy.  I guess what -- so but even if we assume that by 

2010 Jonathan had some inkling there was a problem here, is there anything 

within -- this is just a question other than the statute of limitations, I'm just -- 

because this was the will and not the trust, it's the will, what's the reason -- 

this is just a really long delay. 

So, at least in 2010, he was saying I want to try to resolve this with 

you, here's a settlement proposal to resolve this, but then I guess what, 

nothing?  So, it just zero it for three years or? 

MR. FREER:  No.  So, what happened, if you go back and read 

Jonathan's deposition, is it was kind of a recurring series of events where a 

member of the board or former board who was friendly with Mr. Adelson 

would approach Jonathan, they would go to lunch.  In fact, I think he had four 

lunch meetings, where they said look, let's try to get this resolved.  This 

doesn't help anybody, we all want to get it resolved, we'll take it back, we'll get 

a settlement.   

MOTN EXS. Pages36 of 269

005222

005222

00
52

22
005222



Nine months, a year, a year-and-a-half go by, he wouldn't hear 

anything, and then another person would come and say let's go ahead, let's 

try to resolve this.  And he was holding off paying the bequest until there was 

some kind of a deal.   

THE COURT:  Right.  Now, also because it's the will, they had to 

publish a notice to creditors and make a determination of how much they 

would need to pay under the will.  So, I mean you had all those procedures 

going on, just going in any -- 

MR. FREER:  Right. 

THE COURT:  -- in the Estate administration. 

MR. FREER:  But Jonathan -- part of the discussion that was 

occurring during this period of 2010 through the time of filing the petition to 

compel the distribution in 2013, was not only let's settle the naming rights 

issue, but Jonathan was basically saying once we get that done, we'll make 

the distribution. 

THE COURT:  Yeah, I understand, but again I guess it's not 

technically a statute of limitations.  Maybe it's more of a tolling issue.  It's that 

until the Estate had been -- all the creditors had been paid, and they figured 

out what is it here that we're going to be paying out to -- whoever took under 

the will, as opposed to the trust -- whoever took under the will to get the 

petition to make the distributions filed?  I mean at what point -- clearly in that 

process of administration, it seems like it just got stalled. 

MR. FREER:  The process of administration didn't really get 

wrapped up with respect to that, I believe, until right around 2013.  We came 

onto the case in 2013. 
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THE COURT:  Correct. 

MR. FREER:  Shortly thereafter, for example, Mr. Schwartz' ex-

wife's counsel withdrew, those issues had been resolved.  I believe the 706 

was finalized.   

THE COURT:  The senior Mr. Schwartz? 

MR. FREER:  Yes. 

THE COURT:  Because that -- 

MR. FREER:  Yes. 

THE COURT:  -- I know that was a part of the litigation was -- 

MR. FREER:  Right. 

THE COURT:  -- dealing with the divorce. 

MR. FREER:  And I think it was --  

THE COURT:  The divorce? 

MR. FREER:  -- correct. 

THE COURT:  He had certain agreements through the divorce that 

he had to deal with, as well. 

MR. FREER:  With respect to the -- with the nuptial agreements, 

yes.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  Yeah, so, I just -- again, I was trying to figure 

out is the status the case was in at various different points in time, does it 

relate at all to the -- this issue of statute of limitations?  I mean when was this 

ripe, this whole issue of do we have to pay you the $500,000 in the will?  I 

mean is that depended on getting all the way down to okay, here we've 

brought in all the income, we've marshaled all the assets, we know what the 

creditors' claims are, let's do our accounting? 
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MR. FREER:  Absolutely.  The statute does allow an executor to 

withhold making any kind of distributions pending that administrative period.  

When exactly the administrative -- he would have been in a position to do so 

with respect to the finalization of the 706, I don't have that information with me 

on hand, but obviously based on the way we normally process, it usually takes 

two to three years from the date of death -- 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. FREER:  -- to go ahead before you even get some IRS  

[indiscernible]. 

THE COURT:  And so that's why I was wondering what was 

significant about 2010?  What happened in 2010, that this ended up in writing?  

Was that a significant date because it was time to do that administrative -- 

MR. FREER:  What occurred in 2010, I think, that probably 

prompted the genesis of this was a meeting with I believe it might have been 

Sam [Indiscernible].  I'm talking based on my recollection of Mr. Schwartz' 

testimony.   

THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

MR. FREER:  My recollection is that once he had that meeting, that 

kind of spurred things and Jonathan was under the belief that he thought he 

could get a real resolution to the issue.  So, to not only be able to be in a 

position to make the donation, but to be in a position to make sure that his 

father's legacy was preserved. 

THE COURT:  Right.  And I asked the question because I think it's -- 

I'm just trying to figure out what the significance is of the fact -- of the context 

of this case.  It's a trust case -- well, this part of it's the will.  It's a probate case.  
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And technically, there's no different statute of limitations.  It just says what it 

says.  But -- 

MR. FREER:  There may be an administrative tolling provision. 

THE COURT:  That's what my question is.  Is there -- whether it's 

statutorily or just like case law, it just seems to me significant that this -- as I 

talked to Mr. Jones about, this was triggered by the school filing saying give 

us the money your father left.  And these were all raised as responses.  So, I'm 

just trying to figure out -- I get the first period of time, what the argument is as 

to up until 2010 when everything was finally clear, we don't have an 

agreement, there's some sort of a bridge.  And he's on notice that -- that's the 

notice, is that in 2010, clearly, they don't believe they owe my father naming 

rights.  Okay.  So, 2010.   

Then is there any further -- why wasn't anything done about until 

2013, I guess is my question?  Was there something in probate law -- 

MR. FREER:  There was back and -- 

THE COURT:  -- that should have triggered some action?  Well, 

probably not the best question for you.  That's really more your client's. 

MR. FREER:  There wouldn't have been -- under the probate 

statutes there wouldn't have been anything that would have compelled a 

distribution.  And we did actually -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah, I guess, that's a better way to put my question. 

MR. FREER:  -- we did actually raise that -- we also filed an 

objection to the petition to compel distribution.  We raised those issues in that, 

as well.  But also, you know, in terms of factually what was going on, that was 

when those intermediaries and the trying to get the matter settled was 
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occurring, as well, so. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. FREER:  And obviously, you know, we pointed this out in our 

earlier briefs, is an executor has a duty to make sure that a distribution is 

proper.  And that includes whether or not there are offsets to that distribution.  

Back when we were doing this last merry-go-round in 2013 and 2014, we cited 

pages of authority to basically say an executor has a right to offset a bequest, 

regardless of when any statute of limitations occurs, on the basis that an 

amount is due and owing from the beneficiary. 

And on top of that, if you would parlay the fiduciary duty aspect on 

it that Mr. Jones talked about, he had a fiduciary duty not to make that 

distribution until this issue was resolved.   

THE COURT:  Because it could affect, also, the rights of any 

residuary, which -- I don't know, was it the trust? 

MR. FREER:  The trust is the residuary beneficiary.   

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. FREER:  That's correct, Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  All right. 

MR. FREER:  Thank you. 

MR. JONES:  First of all, Your Honor, I -- you know, I have to tell 

you, I never heard that a counterclaim isn't subject to the statute of limitations.  

I did a little quick research and there's a case called Vari-Building, Inc. v. City of 

Reno, 622 F.Supp 92, where the court held under Nevada law, a counterclaim 

for affirmative relief is subject to the statute of limitations, which can only 

make sense to me. 
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I understand an affirmative defense you're saying well, you know, I 

got out of this, I'm not liable because of this issue. 

THE COURT:  This is a request for declaratory relief. 

MR. JONES:  But this is a request on an affirmative claim they're 

making. 

Now, let me go from there and just point out that -- Your Honor, if I 

may, I've got another couple things I'd like to hand to the Court.  These are 

again all things that have been provided to the Court in our papers.  If I may 

approach? 

THE COURT:  Sure. 

MR. JONES:  The first thing, Your Honor, is the petition to probate.  

So that is -- you'll see that was probated by Mr. Oshin in October of 2007.  If 

you look on the second -- excuse me -- the third page, you'll see one of the 

listed of beneficiaries is the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy.  They're a 

listed beneficiary.  No question they're on the will as a beneficiary.   

Now, if you look at the petition for declaratory relief, I don't know 

how the Estate and Mr. Schwartz get around this.  Page five, the Executor 

became aware of the Academy's breach on or about March 10, 2010 -- excuse 

me -- March of 2010.   

If you look at the last page:  I, Jonathan Schwartz, Executor of the 

Estate of Milton I. Schwartz, being first duly sworn under penalty of perjury, 

deposes and states:  That he is the Petitioner who makes the foregoing petition 

for declaratory relief.  That he has read said petition and knows the contents 

thereof, that the same is true of his own knowledge, except for those matters 

stated on information and belief\ and that as to such matters he believes them 
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to be true.  Signed by Mr. Schwartz.   

That, Your Honor, is -- and, by the way, that other paragraph on 

page five I read, is not asserted on information and belief.  It is stated as an 

unequivocal statement of fact.  Sworn under oath by a licensed attorney. 

I suggest to counsel that is an admission that cannot be got 

around.  No matter what you want to say, you can bring up -- Mr. Schwartz 

could bring ten affidavits and say that's not true, we know under Nevada law 

you cannot raise an issue of material fact in summary judgment motion by 

contradicting your sworn statement. 

So, we know Mr. Schwartz said, unequivocally, as of that date in 

connection with the probate of this will, he knew there was a breach.  We also 

know from his statements under oath that he was aware of other facts going 

back two-and-a-half years before that date that led him to believe that his 

father's rights were being eroded.   

So, yes, he had a duty to protect the Estate, not pay out claims that 

he shouldn't pay.  He also had a duty that is what's relevant to this discussion, 

because this is summary judgment against the Estate, what's relevant to this 

discussion is having that information that he admittedly had as early as 

December of 2007, did he as a matter of law have an obligation to pursue 

information and did he have an obligation to do due diligence to determine if 

in fact a legitimate claim of the Estate existed. 

I submit to this Court that is not a question.  The law is clear.  It is 

unequivocal.  You can't say it's a question of fact whether he had a duty to use 

due diligence.  Nevada law says he had such a duty.  Nevada law says that he 

is under a duty to exercise proper diligence to learn more if he has any 
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information.  That is Aldabe v. Adams.  He has that affirmative duty.  He 

cannot ignore that.  

And, again, the case law in Massey v. Litton, is not whether he 

knew, it's whether he had access to facts rather than a legal theory.  Did he 

have access to the facts?  On their website in 2008, Mr. LeVeque used the 

Wayback Machine in a deposition of a witness he took to show the website 

shown in 2008, an alleged violation of the naming rights.  

But it was up on the school.  Mr. Freer says, well, he was out there, 

he was misled, because they were telling him, you know, his name's still out 

there.  He says in his letter of 2010 it's a violation to have Mr. Adelson and Dr. 

Adelson's name on the middle school.  That was there since 2008.   

If he's going out to the school -- and I guess I would have to ask the 

Court -- Your Honor, does it make sense to us to have to go to a jury to say, 

ladies and gentlemen, we couldn't get summary judgment because there was 

a question of fact as to whether or not Mr. Schwartz had an obligation to look 

up when he went out to that school in 2007, in 2008, in 2009, in 2010, when he 

did these tours, did he have an obligation to look around him to see what the 

name was on the signage, to see what the name was on the middle school, 

which was directly contrary to what they allege to be the naming rights were? 

THE COURT:  And, again, I think maybe a lot of the questions I was 

asking -- because I was -- that was why I was wondering why we have a jury.  I 

think a lot of my questions are really more these legal questions that are raised 

in this request for declaratory relief that are not, as I understand it, subject to 

your motion for summary judgment.  It's just the four-year statute on the oral 

agreement; because the first claim for relief is construction of the will.   
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And so, it just seems to me that some of these alternative causes, 

they sort of all relate back to the real issue here.  The real issue is the will.  And 

we got way off on all this stuff about contracts and fraud.  And, you know, 

really, it's just about the Will.  What was Milton thinking when he wrote this 

will in 2007?   

We have to look at what it was in 2007.  So, construction of the 

Will, again that to me is -- it's essentially an affirmative defense to the school 

saying you owe us $500,000, look it's right here in the will.  And the will's filed 

and, you know, you know your dad wanted to give us $500,000. 

Bequest void for mistake, the third one, that's what these issues all 

seem to relate to.  The fourth one is the offset that Mr. Freer was talking about.  

Should it be offset, for any reason, by some amount, because they didn't quite 

get what they thought they were expecting when Milton wrote his will, so 

somehow that should be, in some way, offset by any indebtedness of the 

legatee to the estate.  So, I don't really know -- I don't know -- like they're 

saying he made periodic donations and that should all be taken into 

consideration as part of the $500,000, because these charitable institutions, 

they keep track.  They know what anybody has ever given them in whatever 

amount. 

And then revocation and constructive trust.  If we're just looking at 

breach of contract, that's why I was just -- well, all of this -- this is really just 

about the will.   

MR. JONES:  It all comes back to the will, Your Honor.  We say that 

the will is unambiguous, and it says that he had -- the Estate had an obligation 

to give the 500,000.  That's not tied to or connected with any naming rights.  It 
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simply says $500,000 for scholarships to Jewish kids.   

THE COURT:  It says Milton I. Schwartz, and if the mortgage is paid 

off. 

MR. JONES:   Yes, if the mortgage is paid off. 

THE COURT:  If the mortgage is paid off. 

MR. JONES:  And the mortgage was paid off by the Adelsons. 

THE COURT:  Right.  Yeah.   

MR. JONES:  So, then it would go to the scholarships. 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. JONES:  They came back and said well, we're not going to pay 

it, because we think you've breached the naming rights agreement that is not 

directly connected to what the words in the will say.  There's nothing in the 

will that says -- talks about naming rights, but that's their position.  They're 

certainly entitled to take a position, but once they've taken that position, 

they're stuck with it. 

THE COURT:  Because the -- this claim for relief, the breach of 

contract claim, it's not specifically pled as breach of oral, versus breach of 

written.  I know you're just moving to say they can't pursue any sort of oral 

contract.  So, not getting into the whole six-year issue, is there really a written 

contract somewhere out there.  Because this isn't really written, it doesn't 

really tell me are they looking for an oral contract or a written one, because it 

talks about how Tamar Lubin offered in '92, to return the original $500,000 that 

was needed to secure the donation from Summerlin [phonetic].  They weren't 

going to give him money unless they knew they could afford to build the 

building.   
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So, they came up with -- that's a big chunk of money -- $500,000 

and that got them -- I think they had to raise a little bit, maybe get up to 

$1,000,000 if I understand it right. 

MR. JONES:  Well, there's lots of different testimony about that, 

but there's certainly -- we are not contesting that Mr. Milton Schwartz 

apparently gave the school $500,000 back in 1989 or so. 

THE COURT:  Oh, absolutely.  So, supposedly there was some offer 

at that point, during all that litigation that they had in early 90s -- 

MR. JONES:  '94, yeah. 

THE COURT:  -- that Tamar Lubin offered in 1992 to return Milton's 

$500,000.  So, the Estate seeks a declaration that the Academy has breached 

its agreement and promise.  As a direct result of the breach, the Estate is not 

required to distribute to the Academy.  As far as the interview made by Milton, 

the Estate has suffered damages in excess of $1,000,000.  But ultimately, over 

time, Milton had already given them 1,000,000.  I don't know what other gifts 

he gave them, but that's their allegation.  

MR. JONES:  It's their allegation. 

THE COURT:  So, to me it seems like -- you know, I've been 

struggling all along with this, the oral contract.  It seems like it's --   

MR. JONES:  Well, and that -- and I would agree with you that it's 

not clear, but we didn't -- we don't agree there's any kind of an enforceable 

contract, but we didn't even try with respect to a written contract, because we 

believed that the statute was met. 

THE COURT:  Right.  Well, there are minutes, there's board 

minutes, and they took certain actions that are in writing.  So, I guess -- 
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MR. JONES:  In 2013, they're -- you know, even if you knew in 2007 

he's -- they're within the statute.  So, we didn't even argue that point.   

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. JONES:  I just -- we don't want to go to trial, whether it's 

before you or a jury, on claims that we think have been barred by the statute of 

limitations.  We think that certainly any alleged oral contracts is barred by the 

statute of limitations, based upon Mr. Schwartz' own admissions, which are 

stated under oath in his -- 

THE COURT:  Jonathan? 

MR. JONES:  -- Jonathan Schwartz, yes, Your Honor -- in his 

deposition, and then in his verified petition to the Court. 

THE COURT:  Right.  Okay.  And I don't know why I'm so hung up 

on this.  I'll ask you if it's comes up.  This idea that although I began to hear 

rumors -- this is Mr. Jonathan Schwartz' affidavit.  Although I began to hear 

rumors that the school had taken action contrary to the agreement, I did not 

rely on the rumors, because their actions after my father's death were 

contrary.  After my father's death I continued to make donations payable to the 

Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy.   

Is he talking I, as an individual or I, as a trustee/executor, because it 

seems it only matters if it's for his father's trust.  It doesn't matter if he 

personally -- what he personally did doesn't matter. 

MR. JONES:  And, Your Honor, from our perspective, whether he 

made donations on behalf of the Trust, or the Estate, or on his own, it's 

irrelevant to the inquiry because even if he did make those contributions, first 

of all, we would submit, and we did actually in our papers, that that affidavit is 
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an attempt to contradict his sworn deposition testimony which under Nevada 

law you can't do. 

THE COURT:  Right.  Okay. 

MR. JONES:  So, but I think it's irrelevant because even if he made 

them on behalf of the Estate, there's no evidence to suggest that the Estate or 

the school accepted any of those donations in reliance upon his position that 

they were in furtherance of a naming rights agreement.   

That's basic contract law.  You've got to have a meeting of the 

minds.  So, he could have given who knows how much money on the Estate's 

behalf after his father died. 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

MR. JONES:   But unless the school said we understand you're 

giving this to us because you're -- in furtherance of your dad's agreement with 

the school for perpetual naming rights.  Even that affidavit read in the light 

most favorable to the Estate does not accomplish that goal and is therefore 

irrelevant to the inquiry. 

THE COURT:   And, again, because it talks about going physically 

onto the premises on a number of different dates long after his dad had died, 

2009, '10, '11, and '12, and seeing the lettering was still up there on that 

building -- 

MR. JONES:  And, by the way, it was on the lower school. 

THE COURT:  The lower school. 

MR. JONES:  But it wasn't on the middle school, which is part of 

what he says in his letter is a violation, that it should have been on the middle 

school. 
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THE COURT:  Yeah, and so that's why I'm just trying to say with 

respect to this affidavit, it sort of raises questions in my mind about why was 

this taking so long?   

MR. JONES:  Well, that's the basis for a motion, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Yeah, exactly.  Okay.  Thank you. 

MR. JONES:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  And I'll let Mr. Jones [sic] have the last word if I 

raised any questions that you didn't get a chance to address, because I know 

I've been hung up on this whole -- looking at it in the context of being -- it's 

just the administration of a will and it took this -- more than ten years.   

MR. FREER:  Well, so -- 

THE COURT:  I mean even Charles Dickens in Bleak House, you 

know -- I mean, we know it can last forever, but what does that mean? 

MR. FREER:  Your Honor, I've still got the Major Riddle Estate 

going, and he died in 1971, so. 

THE COURT:  Oh, yeah, that's true, that one is still open.  That is 

the oldest case in Clark County. 

MR. FREER:  I know.  Commissioner Yamashita reminds me every 

time.   

THE COURT:  Every time.  It's still on the books.   

MR. FREER:  At least I'm on page one with that. 

 THE COURT:  It ruins our statistics, I'll just tell you. 

MR. FREER:  Your Honor, a couple issues raised by Mr. Jones.  The 

petition for probate and wills, probated wills, it's consistent with what he 

testified to.  The fact that he had to list Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy in 
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October, it's a requirement.  It's a statute that you're required to list the 

devisees as heirs and beneficiaries.  That's 136-090. 

THE COURT:  So, I mean technically he was on notice that the 

Academy was the beneficiary.  He talked about, my dad and I talked about his 

will all the time.  I mean he was fully informed by his dad as to what his dad 

was doing in his estate planning.   

MR. FREER:  Right. 

THE COURT:  He knew all along -- 

MR. FREER:  And we're not -- 

THE COURT:  -- that his dad said they're in there.   So, that's not 

the issue.  I mean it's not the issue of when he knew they existed in the will -- 

MR. FREER:  Exactly. 

THE COURT:  -- he always knew they were listed in the will. 

MR. FREER:  And we're not running away from the March 2010 

date, but that still gets us within an oral contract -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MR. FREER:  -- of the statute of limitations.  With respect to the 

claims raised, you know, Your Honor keeps saying this is just a construction of 

a will.  Yes and no.  So, while, you know, the case is out there like in the 

probate context In Re Smith's Estate, it allows the Court to offset a bequest for 

breaches of contract.  That is related.   

THE COURT:  Right.  And I think that we -- 

MR. FREER:  That is related. 

THE COURT:  -- so, your position would be whether it's an oral or 

written, because I think we all agree we don't have a problem with the six-year 
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statutes.   

MR. FREER:  We don't have a problem -- 

THE COURT:  We don't. 

MR. FREER:  -- with the six-year statute.  And even with respect to 

offset, that's not governed by any statute at all. 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. FREER:  But what I want to point out with respect to the claims 

raised is in 2011 the Legislature amended the declaratory relief statutes that 

allow in probate actions not only to go in for declaratory relief as to issues 

relating to the will, but you can also request supplemental relief and 

perspective relief because of the judicial economy.  That's what we did.  So, 

we do have claims that stem from the will.   

But with respect to the breach of the naming rights agreement, et 

cetera, those are separate claims in terms of those are independent of the will.  

Whether or not that Milton -- and here's how it would work in two ways.  

Number one, the Court has the ability to assert perspective relief, which, we -- 

if there is determined to be a breach of that naming rights agreement.   

Number two -- and this is where it gets back to relating to the will -- 

even if the Court isn't willing to award perspective relief, if that breach occurs, 

then it will -- minimum is allowed to offset the will, and that's regardless of the 

construction aspect of the will because, remember, the construction is did he 

leave it to the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy, not successors; but also, 

we've got, well, irregardless of that -- I hate the word irregardless, I apologize 

for using that -- regardless of that, we have an issue of if the school breached 

its obligations, then that not only can offset the claims, but can also provide 
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perspective relief under the declaratory judgment statutes. 

THE COURT:  Right.  So, all of this had to have been tolled because 

their notice of the breach came at what point? 

MR. FREER:  It's undisputed at this point -- as a matter of law it's 

under disputed, in March 2010.  That's when he became aware of the breach. 

THE COURT:  I don't think that's undisputed.  I think that's Mr. 

Jones's whole point. 

MR. FREER:  Well, no.  I mean he's saying earlier.  And anything 

earlier -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MR. FREER:  -- than March 2010 is a disputed issue of fact.  That's 

what I'm trying to say, Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. FREER:  So, we agree, after March of 2010 -- 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. FREER:  -- he was on notice.  And the only other thing I would 

like to point out with respect to our claims that we've raised, is in addition to 

the contract theory with respect to the naming rights, there's also a whole 

concept, a whole body of law of mistaken gift. 

THE COURT:  Again, not challenging that, so. 

MR. FREER:  And so, all of that -- but when Your Honor, you know, 

just keeps coming back to the it's just related to the will construction -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah, right. 

MR. FREER:  -- there's more. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  So, why don't we get down to that 
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point?  That the only thing we're arguing about is Jonathan Schwartz knowing, 

prior to March of 2010, that he needed to pursue relief on this question of I 

thought there was an agreement, maybe it's an oral agreement, why isn't  

my -- why is my father's gift not being acknowledged through naming rights?  

Because here's the thing, I'm not really sure when it really was because that 

name -- his name is up there on that -- 

MR. JONES:  Well, I agree with that. 

THE COURT:  -- on the building a long, long time. 

MR. JONES:  Well, and Your Honor, I -- there are lots of other 

issues, but going to the one that you're referring to, about what he knew and 

when did he know it? 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MR. JONES:  The law is clear, it's uncontrovertable.  You cannot 

create an issue of fact with your subsequent contrary or contradictory 

statements.  You have Mr. Schwartz under oath -- in fact, not only did I read it 

to the Court, but Mr. Freer read more of it to the Court, where Mr. Schwartz, 

Jonathan Schwartz, testified that he knew about death by a thousand cuts, 

Judge.  It's like being a little bit pregnant, one cut is a breach.  So, for them to 

suggest somehow that one cut is not enough, that he had to have a thousand 

cuts before it was actionable, is clearly an absurd proposition.   

As I said, you've got to take it into context of what we're talking 

about here, too.  They want to leave out the idea that he's a fiduciary.  Under 

Nevada law he has an obligation to pursue claims he thinks exist.  He's a 

lawyer.  So, on top of it, he knows what claims might exist more than most 

people would, way more than most people would. 
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Furthermore, as you point out, he said -- and there's no -- no 

contradictory evidence exists.  He knew what his dad wanted into his Estate, 

and he knew all about these issues before his dad even died.  So, he knew all 

these things.  You can't get around that, they can't get around it.  So -- 

THE COURT:  For purposes of tolling when you've got inquiry 

notice, your tolling has to go somewhere. 

MR. FREER:  You're out of luck.  And for -- let me put it this way, as 

a lawyer, if somebody came to me and said well, I'm not sure, but I have a 

claim.  I may, or I may not.  There's some things that have happened that make 

me think there's been a breach here, but I’m not positive.  What do you think, 

Mr. Jones?   

Now, what do you think any lawyer in their right mind is going to 

think?  You do not leave that issue alone.  You go out and say okay, let me 

start looking here to see what we got.  And what do you do?  You always file, 

out of an abundance of caution, anytime you think there's even a possibility 

that the statute is running, always.  And he's a lawyer, he's the Executor, he 

stated under oath in deposition that I knew two-and-a-half years ago things 

that they were doing that, I felt were breached.   

We have unequivocal Nevada case law that says you have a duty, 

even without being an executor of an estate, even without being a lawyer, to 

exercise due diligence, to find out whether or not there is such a problem.  He 

didn't do it.  Well, assuming he didn't do it.  Why he didn't do it, we can never 

know.  I don't know that he ever -- whatever he would say on the witness 

stand, but he can't get -- you cannot create an issue of fact by contradicting 

your sworn testimony.  He said two-and-a-half years prior to March of 2010, he 
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knew things that led him to believe there had been breaches. 

So, here's the difference, Judge.  In 2007 or 2008, or maybe even in 

2009, he knew things that he thought were breached.  What they're telling you 

is by March of 2010, it was unequivocal.  And what's interesting is Mr. Freer 

got up here and told you that Jonathan Schwartz also said in his deposition he 

didn't have definitive proof until 2013.  So, did he have definitive proof in 2010, 

when he's -- or he filed a verified petition under oath to this court as, 

presumably, an officer of the court?   

I mean look at -- this is -- they have the obligation -- when we 

raised these issues, they have the obligation to bring other facts that are 

contested.  They can't contest Mr. Schwartz's own sworn testimony with 

contradictory testimony from Mr. Schwartz.  That is just flat out the law, and 

that's why, as an oral contract, we win. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  The letter is -- of May 10, is -- what is of 

interest, and I understand Mr. Freer accepts what is factually related in here 

that back in February or March, he admit trying to resolve this issue.  

So, at some point in time, prior to February or March of 2010, 

Jonathan Schwartz was on notice that they needed to get this resolved, and 

what he says is that for purposes of a settlement and to do what's best for the 

school, I believe, contingent upon the settlement agreement being executed, 

that the naming of various institutions should be left as they currently are. 

And then the next paragraph, he talks about basically accepts that 

the school's already doing, despite the fact that some of what the school has 

done in the last two-and-a-half years breaches the agreement. 

I mean, to me that just begs the question of when did you learn 
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about what they had done in the last two and -- two-and-a-half years?  It's not 

real clear, because he was out there the year before, he was out there in 2009, 

whether he knew that although the building -- it was -- I don't know if etched is 

the right word, because it's the building, sort of in lettering on the building, I 

can't -- I don't know if it was recessed or on top of the surface, but there's a 

name on there.  I was there once.  And so, I guess that's my question.  Is if he's 

on notice that there was something going on for two or two-and-a-half years, 

when did he get his notice?   

MR. FREER:  And that's the issue of fact. 

THE COURT:  Right.   So, that is a little less clear here, and because 

that's really the key.  There is -- if it's -- if it was -- if he was on notice of what 

was happening in two or two-and-a-half years earlier, the point that I think is 

significant about the corporate records, putting somebody on inquiry notice, 

and I just -- and there's nothing that is really clear about what additional 

donations were made between the time his father died and who was doing 

those in 2010.  Those, to me, are all questions of fact, because I -- absolutely as 

-- if there is any evidence out there that I'm missing that tells us here's where 

he did something.  Because my problem is they did continue to use letterhead.  

I can appreciate their general organization of being frugal, but they continued 

to use the letterhead.  Okay, for what period of time?  When did they stop 

using that letterhead? 

There's just, to me -- and it may be somewhere in all these 

exhibits, and I just missed it -- something that tells me -- and that's why I was 

so hung up on this affidavit.  It's so vague.  I can't tell when -- and I can 

appreciate that he doesn't want to write an affidavit that he's going to say that 
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in 2009, my check -- my receipt for my check was Adelson School.   

I mean he's on notice.  He's got people telling him, over a period 

two to two-and-a-half years, people are telling him.  And I guess that's my 

problem, is people are telling him they're not honoring it.  Well, what did you 

do to figure it out?  Wasn't -- isn't that inquiry notice, in and of itself, the very 

first time that somebody comes to you and says my kid goes to that school, 

and I thought you said your dad was founder and his name's on there.  I 

haven't seen his name anywhere.  Aren't you on a duty to go? 

But here's my -- my question that remains there, is was he told 

something differently when he made that inquiry, and there's just nothing in 

here that tells me he did anything to inquire in that period of that two-and-a-

half years to May of 2010, that he did anything to find out if what people were 

telling him was true, or did he just rely on the fact that he got a receipt, a tax 

acknowledgment letter that was printed on letterhead.  I don't know why they 

were doing that, but it just doesn't make sense, he's on inquiry notice, and 

that's my problem.  I don't -- I'm not so hung up on the fact that 2007, they 

changed corporate -- or they changed the corporate records or the corporate 

name.  I understand that people say that's -- you're on notice.  Nobody looks at 

that.  Who looks at that? 

But I do have a problem with these people telling him something 

was going on, and I think in light of the obligations he had, which he 

acknowledges in here.  It's like my duty to figure this out, and I'm the Executor.   

I've got to try to honor my father's testamentary wishes, but I've got to do so 

in the right way, and so that's why I'm trying to settle this issue now.  He had 

notice for two-and-a-half years before that.  Why was nothing done sooner?  
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So that's my problem with it. 

With all due respect, I appreciate there are questions, but I don't 

think they're material.  He admits to having notice in -- two to two-and-a-half 

years earlier, that they were doing things that were not honoring his father's 

obligations, and he -- or his father's intentions, and he is very clear, that that 

was what he was always motivated by.  So, I just -- I don't see how you can get 

around that.   

MR. FREER:  Well, in the letter -- 

THE COURT:  I appreciate you're arguing that's questions of fact 

because there's nowhere in here where it says like this person told me this on 

this date, and I did this in response.  It seems like he has to do something in 

response.   

This -- we get back to this -- this is a will and all these duties are 

owed to all these different people and nobody's challenging, nobody's said he 

was breaching any duties, but it just seems like there's some sort of an 

obligation there to make this thing move faster and to figure this out sooner.  

What's -- and I appreciate there are all these other things going on with the 

other family members and ex-wives and whatever, that had to be worked out, 

too, but it just seems that at some point he had to say why are people 

continuing to tell me this?  He had some obligation at that point.   

To me, it's impacted by inquiry notice.  He stands in different 

shoes.  I’m not -- not just because he's an attorney, but he stands in different 

shoes because he's the Executor, and he needs to get these claims resolved to 

the benefit of the creditors and to the beneficiaries.  And you're on notice that 

a big chunk of this estate, you might not have to pay out because people say 
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you're -- he's not -- his father's agreement wasn't being honored.  It seems to 

me that that's -- that's notice and -- 

MR. FREER:  The issue is inquiry notice -- 

THE COURT:  -- he needed -- it was -- started tolling.  

MR. FREER:  The inquiry notice is an issue of fact.  The statement 

in the letter doesn't say I have known for two-and-a-half years, he says I know 

that this has been -- that this has been going on for two-and-a-half years.  It 

doesn't say I've known over the last -- for two-and-a- half years that this has 

been going on. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Let me read it again.  Okay.   

MR. JONES:  Your Honor, if I -- and I would like to have the last 

word.  I would. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Yeah, you can get the last word.  The draft 

settlement agreement basically accepts what the school is already doing, 

despite the fact that some of what the school has done in the last two-and-a-

half years breaches the agreement. 

MR. FREER:  Right.  So, he knows as of 2010, that breaches have 

been occurring for two-and-a-half years.  He doesn't know -- what he's not 

saying is I have known that those breaches have been occurring during that 

entire two-and-a-half year period. 

THE COURT:  Right, but doesn't he in the deposition say people 

had been telling me? 

MR. FREER:  So, and that gets back to the other issue, though, that 

we raised is we don't have clarity of what statements were being made. 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 
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MR. FREER:  It was a long -- if you look at the testimony, it's a long 

narrative, there's a bunch of stuff mixed in.  It said people were basically 

creating rumors, and that's why it's an issue of fact.  That will -- having this 

come in at trial will allow us to probe what exactly was said, what exactly was 

done in response.  That's why it's an issue of fact, that's why it's appropriate.  

You know, and we cite -- it's a whole issue of possibility, versus probability 

with respect to the inquiry notice, that's why it's an issue of fact. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Finally. 

MR. JONES:   Your Honor, I think you've -- at least from my 

perspective -- have hit the issue on the head.  If you look at that letter, and I 

should have focused more on it.  As you just read -- re-read it, the fact that 

some of what the school has done -- in other words, a fait accompli, it's 

already been happening -- in the last two-and-a-half years breaches the 

agreements.  So, he's telling everyone that for the last two -- and so some of 

those breaches have to go back two-and-a-half years.  Some of them do 

because that's when they started.   

So, the breaches, by this statement, go back at least two-and-a-half 

years, and then you look at his testimony.  Statements from board members, 

statements from, you know, people who sent their kids there, they don't -- 

they're not representing your dad's legacy.  All this kind of stuff.  And this was, 

you know, a series of events.  And little by little they diminish my father's 

naming rights.  Well, if they diminished them a little, that's a breach, according 

to them.   You don't have to have a big diminishment to have a breach.    And 

supplanting it completely, later on when Mr. Adelson came along, which was 

not the agreement.  These events occurred.  We would hear about them from 
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the community throughout the years, 2007, '08, '09, '10, et cetera, et cetera, et 

cetera.   

That's his testimony.  He is saying I've heard some of these things 

that constitute these breaches for at least two-and-a-half years.  That's where 

I'm saying there is no material issue of fact.  He is not just saying I heard about 

something that could give rise to a breach, I'm hearing about things that he 

says in his letter were breaches going back two-and-a-half years from 2010. 

I don’t know how -- that's not the end of the inquiry.  As I said at 

the beginning of my argument, I find it hard to think of a case where you have 

better evidence of a basis for a summary judgment motion than an admission 

against interest by the party opponent, and we would ask you to dismiss any 

claim for an oral contract on the basis of the statute of limitations. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  This is something I've thought about in the 

context of the motion for summary judgment on fraud.  It seems to me that all 

of this about they sent me back receipts that were on letterhead and had 

envelopes and had Milton Schwartz on it.  I went out there on several 

occasions, starting in 2009, saw the signage that still had his father's name on 

it, and that apparently there was something said to him during one or more of 

those visits.  And I'm sure -- you know, what prompted all of this.  As a result 

of the rumors, which I did not rely on, due to the school's conduct.  And that 

was this whole returning the tax acknowledgments on letterhead.  I wrote to 

the Board. 

I mean these people are telling him they're not honoring your 

dad's legacy.  You're out there in 2009, and if they misrepresent to you  oh, 

that's how we're leaving it, that's fraud on him, it's not fraud on his dad to 

MOTN EXS. Pages62 of 269

005248

005248

00
52

48
005248



induce scheduling the money.  So that's why I -- I just thought that fraud claim 

was wrongly pled.   

They may have done something to reassure him or to cause him to 

delay in taking action, but that's not -- he's on the inquiry notice, and he 

needed to figure out sooner what was going on.  I don't see how you can look 

at it any other way.  He had notice, he goes out there, they say look, there's 

your dad still on the wall in 2009, and they don’t get into this whole thing of 

well, then have you changed the name in the corporate documents, have you 

done this other thing?   

It just seems to me he's on notice before 2010.  I mean he 

documents it in 2010, but it seems like he's on notice for a long time.  I just -- I 

just can't see it any other way.  I don't think there's any question about that.  It 

just seemed to me that they may have done something to induce him not to 

act, that's different, that's different to me, but it seems that for tolling 

purposes, he knows as soon as somebody starts telling him whatever they're 

telling him, he knows.   

If it's inconsistent with the receipts he's getting back from them, 

why didn't he inquire?  It just doesn't make any sense.  I think he had notice 

long before 2010.  There's no other way to interpret what he did.  He had 

notice.  And they may have lured him into a false sense of relief by saying 

look, your dad's name is still on the wall in 2009, but he had notice as of that 

day.  I just can't see this any other way. 

MR. FREER:   Well, the false -- luring in the false sense of belief is a 

grounds for tolling, even after the notice period occurs, and that gets into the 

whole tolling, equitable -- tolling and equitable estoppel issue that we've got.   

MOTN EXS. Pages63 of 269

005249

005249

00
52

49
005249



I mean in the Copeland v. Desert Inn case, the Court notes as one 

of the factors for equitable tolling is misrepresentations made by the 

Defendant. 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. FREER:  And so, if you're saying that he comes in, and he's 

being told stuff in 2007, 2008, hey, somebody's disrespecting him, and I will -- I 

don't believe the evidence is as clear as what's being spun.  It's -- he says 

2007, '08, '09' '10, '11, '12, and at some point, during that period of time people 

started coming him.   

So, we don’t have a definitive date of when he was put on inquiry 

notice, but even then, we have actions of the school that could constitute 

equitable tolling or equitable estoppel, and those are the issues of fact for the 

jury.  Let's have all of this evidence come in.  Let's find out when he was put 

on notice, when he had a duty to inquire based on what he received, and 

whether or not that duty was tolled once he went and talked to Schiffman or 

Chaltiel, and they said look, your dad's name's on here.  Look here.  Thanks for 

your check to Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew account.  That's where the equitable 

tolling and the equitable estoppel comes in. 

MR. JONES:  Your Honor, do I need to -- we could go on all day on 

this. 

THE COURT:  We could go on all day, yeah.  I understand that Mr. 

Freer's point is these are questions of fact as to who said what to him when, 

but I don't -- and I'm not talking about Mr. Jones said something about 

spinning this.  Just from his own actions, he knew there was a problem.  He 

was told -- he says oh, I didn't rely on it.  Okay.  Well, you didn't rely on it.  So, 
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